### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL S. MICHELBRINK, JR., a single man,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE PATROL,

Appellant.

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

ERIC C. MILLER Assistant Attorney General WSBA# 41040 PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-6300

##

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Washington State Patrol (WSP) includes as part of its Taser training program a one- to five-second Taser exposure so its officers fully understand the capabilities of this law enforcement tool, giving them both the confidence in using the Taser when necessary, as well as the restraint not to use the Taser when lesser means of force are called for. Ninety-nine percent of WSP trainees exposed to the Taser completed the training without incident and reported no injury. Only four of 791 troopers missed work as a result of an injury caused by a Taser exposure.

Respondent Michael Michelbrink, an active duty WSP Trooper, filed this tort lawsuit after sustaining an injury from the Taser exposure. Michelbrink was fully compensated for this injury, having received workers' compensation benefits as well as additional benefits through WSP. Thus, his tort lawsuit fails because the Industrial Insurance Act provides the exclusive remedy for his workplace injury. Michelbrink's claim that he may recover damages in excess of workers' compensation under the "deliberate intention to produce injury" exception should be rejected because there is no evidence that WSP developed the training program with intent to injure. Moreover, given the one-percent injury rate for WSP Taser training, Michelbrink did not establish that WSP was

certain that he would be injured nor did he establish WSP willfully disregarded knowledge of certain injury.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the trial court's denial of WSP's motion for summary judgment and dismiss Michelbrink's lawsuit in its entirety.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred by denying WSP's motion for summary judgment, and in so doing, denied the employer immunity from suit to which it is entitled under Washington's Industrial Insurance Act, RCW Title 51.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Is WSP immune from tort liability under the Industrial Insurance Act where it is undisputed that (1) WSP did not know with certainty that Trooper Michelbrink would sustain any injury during Taser training and (2) there is no evidence that WSP willfully disregarded certain injury?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Washington State Patrol Hiring And Training Program

Each year, the Washington State Patrol recruits "the best of the best" men and women to train to become state troopers tasked with

enforcing Washington's traffic and criminal laws. CP at 13, ll. 19-25. The hiring process is extremely competitive. CP at 13, ll. 19-25; 40-41, ¶ 5. Applicants must pass an oral examination, a psychological test, and a physical evaluation. CP at 14, ll. 1-13. They must also meet the WSP's physical requirements and pass a physical fitness test. CP at 40, ¶ 5. Finally, they must "survive a six-month academy . . . a six- to eight-week coaching trip [with a commissioned trooper], and then once [WSP] assigns [the trooper to their assigned location they] have to survive . . . a year's probation." CP at 14, ll. 9-13.

The six-month Academy is a para-military training program which trains cadets to become troopers. CP at 41,  $\P$  6. In addition to classroom instruction, Academy cadets must pass a variety of hands-on training exercises. CP at 41,  $\P$  6. For example, cadets must demonstrate they are proficient in operating their vehicles on a high-speed driving course and must demonstrate their ability to use physical force during defensive tactics training. CP at 41,  $\P$  6.

A critical component of the WSP training program is to train cadets to become proficient with the tools of their trade, including their patrol vehicles, firearms, "pepper spray," and Taser. CP at 41, ¶ 6. Not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations use the "CP" number that is stamped on the bottom-center of the clerk's papers submitted to this Court.

only must troopers know how to properly operate this equipment, they must also understand the capabilities of the tools they employ. CP at 41,  $\P$  6.

Training does not end after the Academy; commissioned troopers are required to train and recertify their skill sets on a routine basis. CP at 41,  $\P$  7. For example, troopers are periodically required to recertify on the driving training course. CP at 41,  $\P$  7. Additionally, as was the case here, troopers may enroll in training when new weapons or equipment become available to line troopers. CP at 41,  $\P$  7.

#### B. Risk Of Injury Associated With WSP Employment

The job of a WSP Trooper carries an inherent risk of injury. CP at 40, ¶ 4. Most obviously, troopers risk their safety and sometimes their lives when they are required to use force to apprehend hostile individuals. CP at 40, ¶ 4. The WSP Training Division is responsible for ensuring that its personnel are effectively trained to perform their job duties in the safest manner possible. CP at 40,  $\P$  4; 42,  $\P$  8.

WSP training instructors work to minimize the risk of injury during training exercises, but law enforcement training is by necessity very physical and carries the risk of injury. CP at 40, ¶ 4; 42, ¶ 8. For example, trainees participate in "ground-fighting" exercises in which they physically engage one another using different holds, kicks, and throws.

CP at 42-43, ¶ 8(a); 17, II. 3-22. Trainees wear headgear, mouthpieces, and groin protection to mitigate the risk of injury. CP at 42-43, ¶ 8(a). However, because of the physical nature of this training, bruises, cuts, and muscle strains do occur. CP at 42-43, ¶ 8(a). While less common, trainees have also sustained more serious injuries such as torn ligaments and fractures during ground-fighting exercises. CP at 42-43, ¶ 8(a). Another example is pepper spray training where trainees learn not only how to deploy pepper spray, but also the affect of the spray by being exposed during training. CP at 43, ¶ 8(c). While the exposure is painful, unpleasant, and poses some health risks, it is necessary so the cadet learns how the recipient's physical capabilities will be affected. CP at 43, ¶ 8(c); 43-44, ¶ 9. As Michelbrink readily acknowledges, much of WSP training causes temporary pain or discomfort, and training also runs the risk of causing actual injuries or physical conditions. CP at 17, II. 14-22.

In addition to training troopers to sharpen law enforcement techniques, WSP strives to teach its troopers how and when to use force while avoiding excessive force. CP at 43-44, ¶ 9. Where possible, WSP exposes trainees to the effects of different methods of force so trainees learn first-hand not only how to use force, but also how force acts on individuals. CP at 43-44, ¶ 9. WSP troopers are more likely to refrain from using excessive force because they themselves have experienced

such force; they have been exposed to pepper spray and the Taser, and have experienced different holds and throws in ground-fighting exercises. CP at 43-44, ¶ 9. By experiencing this training, troopers also understand the limits of different types of force, and in what situations they may need to elevate their use of force against a threatening individual. CP at 43-44, ¶ 9.

#### C. Washington State Patrol's Taser Training Program

In 2006, WSP purchased the Taser Model X26<sup>2</sup> for issue to line troopers and designated Sergeant Mark Tegard to develop a Taser training program. CP at 52, ¶ 10. After obtaining certification as a trainer by the manufacturer, Sgt. Tegard led Taser training for all troopers from January 2006 until April 2010. CP at 49, ¶ 4; 54, ¶ 13. Each training session consisted of four 50-minute classroom instruction periods and two 50-minute practical exercises. CP at 54, ¶ 13. The session began with a PowerPoint presentation which consisted of over 200 slides provided by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Taser Model X26, manufactured by Taser International, Inc., operates by discharging two metal probes connected by thin insulated wires which are propelled against a threatening individual. CP at 49, ¶ 5. When the probes connect with the individual, the electronic pulses cause muscles to contract which results in the temporary loss of body control. CP at 48, ¶ 3. Tasers provide law enforcement officers with a nonlethal means of handling a threatening situation. In contrast to firearms and batons, Tasers are not used to injure suspects but are instead used to safely gain control of threatening individuals. CP at 48, ¶ 3. Use of a Taser reduces the risk of injury to both the officer and threatening suspect. CP at 52, ¶ 9. As Michelbrink testified, "I think [a Taser] gives me more options in a situation. If I could use my Taser with a [sic] nonlethal force and subdue somebody or save their life versus going to my gun and shooting them, I think that's a big benefit." CP at 22, ll. 9-12.

Taser International, Inc., with some modifications by Sgt. Tegard. CP at 54, ¶ 13; see also CP at 87-94. During each session, Sgt. Tegard explained how the Taser operated, the safety requirements, and the potential health risks from being exposed to the Taser. CP at 54, ¶ 13.

The training module included a practical exercise in which trainees were exposed to the Taser. CP at 54, ¶ 13. The practical exercise was conducted in a controlled environment where each trainee was exposed to the Taser for one to five-seconds while two spotters held them to prevent them from falling or other inadvertent injury. CP at 52-53, ¶ 11; 55, ¶ 15.

Prior to the exposure exercise, Sgt. Tegard explained to each class that the Taser had been tested on over 100,000 human volunteers. CP at 54, ¶ 13; 88. He explained that some volunteers experienced pain, minor skin irritation, temporary blisters, and redness and minor bleeding if the probes punctured the skin. CP at 54, ¶ 13. In addition, Sgt. Tegard explained that some volunteers had experienced physical exertion type injuries, muscle strains, and strain-related injuries caused by strong muscle contractions such as muscle tears or stress fractures. CP at 54, ¶ 13; 88; 92.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Trooper Michelbrink claims that he was not told about a possible fracture, but seems to acknowledge that Sgt. Tegard presented a PowerPoint presentation or at least some type of visual presentation. CP at 23, ll. 13-18. The presentation, attached to Sgt. Tegard's declaration, notes the possibility of fracture in the lesson plan. CP at 88.

The possibility of a stress fracture was low. The manufacturer warnings stated in part:

**Strain Injury Risks.** It is possible that the injury types may include, but are not limited to, strain-type injuries such as hernias, ruptures, dislocations, tears, or other injuries to soft tissue, organs, muscles, tendons, ligaments, nerves, and joints. Fractures to bones, including vertebrae, may occur. These injuries may be more likely to occur in people with preexisting injuries or conditions such as pregnancy, osteoporosis, osteopenia, spinal injuries, diverticulitis, or in persons having previous muscle, disc, ligament, joint, or tendon damage. It is believed that the risk of these injuries is comparable to or less than the risk(s) from vigorous physical exertion, such as weight training, wrestling, or other intense athletic endeavors.

CP at 61.

Before being exposed to the Taser, the trainees were informed that they needed to notify Sgt. Tegard of any present or prior medical conditions. CP at 54, ¶ 13. Based on information provided by the manufacturer, Sgt. Tegard understood that injuries such as fractures could occur in individuals with pre-existing back conditions such as osteoporosis. CP at 55, ¶ 15. Unless a trainee came forward, Sgt. Tegard assumed that, having been accepted into the WSP, the trainee was medically able to participate in the exposure. CP at 54, ¶ 13.

The purpose of exposing trainees to the Taser includes the following:

- Increase the credibility of the trooper as a subject matter expert on the effects of the Taser;
- Enhance the troopers' understanding of the capabilities of the weapon in its deployment, thereby instilling in the trooper confidence that his or her Taser is an effective law enforcement tool;
- Enhance the troopers' understanding of how they would be incapacitated if a Taser was pointed at them by an assailant so the troopers may employ the appropriate self-defense measures;
- Increase the troopers' confidence that they can safely touch an individual they have tased in order to effectuate an arrest without receiving a similar shock.

CP at 54-55, ¶ 14; 91; see also CP at 53, ¶ 12.

WSP's decision to require exposure for troopers who attended Taser training was consistent with the manufacturer's own recommendation as well as policies of other law enforcement agencies.<sup>4</sup> CP at 50-52, ¶¶ 7-8. Indeed, Taser International, Inc. trainers exposed Sgt. Tegard to the Taser during his certification training. CP at 52, ¶ 8.

#### D. WSP's Taser Training Injury Rate Is Only One Percent

From 2005 through 2011, 791 troopers and cadets were exposed to the Taser during training. CP at 39, ¶ 3; 46. Only eight—or one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In developing the Taser training program, Sgt. Tegard consulted with other law enforcement agencies and researched law enforcement publications. CP at 50-51, ¶¶ 6-7. One such publication by the International Association of Chiefs of Police, the largest nonprofit membership organization of police executives, recognized that "[m]any departments require that officers who carry a [Taser] experience themselves the electric shock first-hand. This training option seeks to encourage an officer to have a greater appreciation of the effects of the [Taser] which will assist the officer in determining the circumstances when to use [a Taser]." CP at 82.

percent—reported any type of injury, and only four of these individuals reported an injury that caused them to miss work. CP at 39,  $\P$  3; 46.

#### E. Benefits Available To Injured WSP Troopers

WSP employees are covered by the Industrial Insurance Act and are thus entitled to receive workers' compensation benefits for injuries sustained on the job. *See* CP at 35, ¶ 4. Industrial insurance benefits for injured workers include the following: (1) wage replacement for missed work; (2) coverage for medical treatment related to the workplace injury; (3) vocational training benefits for injured workers who cannot return to their jobs of injury; and (4) monetary compensation for permanent impairments. RCW 51.04.030; 51.32.080, .090 and .095. These benefits are funded by the premiums paid by WSP and other employers. RCW 51.16.035; WAC 296-17-31003 through 31004.

In addition to workers' compensation benefits, injured WSP troopers are entitled to benefits that are more generous than benefits to which most injured workers are entitled. Recognizing the dangerous nature of a trooper's job, the Legislature has provided injured troopers like Michelbrink with an additional benefit package that is above and beyond what other injured workers receive under the Industrial Insurance Act. For example, while the Industrial Insurance Act provides that workers receive between 65 and 70 percent of their wages when they miss work due to a

workplace injury, injured troopers may receive full pay and benefits for the first six months following an injury. RCW 43.43.040(1)(a). Additionally, WSP is proactive in returning injured troopers to work. CP at 35-36, ¶ 7. If an injured trooper is physically unable to return to a line duty position, WSP makes every effort to place the trooper in a position which accommodates his or her physical restrictions. CP at 35-36, ¶ 7; Callecod v. Washington State Patrol, 84 Wn. App. 663, 672, 929 P.2d 510 (1997); WAC 446-40-070(6).

#### F. Trooper Michelbrink's Workplace Injury

On March 1, 1999, Mr. Michelbrink was commissioned as a WSP trooper and thereafter was assigned to enforce the criminal and traffic laws on the state highways. CP at 34, ¶ 3. Michelbrink joined WSP knowing that as a trooper, he would be called upon to respond to situations that would pose a risk to his safety and even his life. CP at 15, ll. 20-24. During his career, Trooper Michelbrink has made hundreds of arrests, handled five to ten situations where a suspect resisted arrest, and has drawn his firearm. CP at 19, ll. 8-25; 31, ll. 6-15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While municipal and county law enforcement officers are covered by the Law Enforcement Officers' and Firefighters' Retirement System (LEOFF), WSP troopers are instead covered under the WSP Retirement System. RCW 43.43.130; see also RCW 43.43.040 (disability benefits). "The Washington State Patrol's disability requirements are governed by an exclusive statute and regulations that are not tied by analogy or otherwise to the LEOFF system." Callecod, 84 Wn. at 672. Under WSP's program, every effort is made to find assignments for injured troopers in order to keep them employed and paid their full salary. *Id*.

Michelbrink knew that his job required grueling, hands-on physical training which posed the possibility of injury. CP at 29-30, Il. 22-2. But despite the risk of injury, Michelbrink understood that WSP cannot train cadets and troopers by simply lecturing them in a classroom; they must actively train in order to prepare for the challenges they face as law enforcement officers. CP at 30, Il. 9-16.

On August 10, 2007, Michelbrink attended WSP's Taser training course. CP at 55, ¶ 16. Michelbrink did not report that he had any pre-existing condition prior to being exposed to the Taser. CP at 24, ll. 11-19. Like all WSP troopers, Michelbrink had been medically certified prior to being commissioned as a trooper, and WSP knew Michelbrink to be healthy at the time of the training. CP at 24, ll. 11-19.

During training, Michelbrink, like every trainee, was exposed to the Taser for a few seconds. Michelbrink experienced some pain and discomfort from the exposure but reported no injury and completed the training. CP at 25, ll. 16-20. However, several days after the training exercise, Michelbrink sought medical treatment and was ultimately diagnosed with a stress fracture in his vertebra that was later thought to be related to the Taser exposure. CP at 32, ll. 4-7.

On August 27, 2007, Michelbrink filed a workers' compensation claim with the Department of Labor and Industries. CP at 35, ¶ 4.

Michelbrink's claim was allowed and he received benefits, including wage replacement payments for missed work, medical coverage, and a permanent partial disability<sup>6</sup> monetary award which compensated him for his injury.<sup>7</sup> CP at 35, ¶ 4; 36, ¶ 7; 28, ll 9-13. Michelbrink also requested and was granted temporary disability leave benefits through WSP which provided him full pay and benefits for the first six months of missed work following the injury. CP at 35, ¶ 4. Finally, Michelbrink requested and was provided a long-term limited duty position with WSP which accommodates his physical restrictions. CP at 35-36, ¶ 7. He continues his employment in this position to this day at his same Trooper rate of pay and benefits. CP at 35-36, ¶ 7.

#### G. Procedural History

On September 27, 2010, Michelbrink filed this lawsuit alleging only one cause of action: that his injury was due to the "deliberate intention" of WSP to produce injury. CP at 1-4.

On July 6, 2012, WSP moved for summary judgment on the ground that Michelbrink's lawsuit was barred by the Industrial Insurance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "A permanent partial disability award is a monetary award designed to compensate the worker for ... [the] loss of function of a body part." WAC 296-20-19000; see also RCW 51.08.150 and RCW 51.32.080.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Michelbrink is entitled to receive additional medical coverage if his injury ever worsens during the remainder of his life. He may also be able to have his claim reopened and receive additional monetary benefits. *See* RCW 51.32.160.

Act. CP at 95-120. In response, Michelbrink asserted a claim for outrage. See CP at 125. On September 4, 2012, the trial court denied WSP's motion for summary judgment. CP at 149-150. WSP filed a timely Motion for Discretionary Review, and on October 19, 2012, Court Commissioner Eric B. Schmidt issued a ruling granting review, concluding that the trial court appeared to have made obvious error.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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