MICHAEL S. MICHELBRINK, JR.,

Respondent

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, WASHINGTON STATE PATROL,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Curtis M. Janhunen, WSBA #4168 Brown Lewis Janhunen & Spencer 101 East Market Street, Suite 501 P O Box 1806 Aberdeen, WA 98520 (360) 533-1600

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The denial of the Motion for Summary Judgment is generally not an appealable order under RAP 2.2(a) and discretionary review such an order is not ordinarily granted. <u>CGHI Enterprises v. Pacific Cities Inc.</u>, 137 Wn.2d 933, 949, 977 P.2d 1231 (1999).

The case of <u>Barber vs. Bankers Life & Casualty</u>, 81 Wn.2d 140, 500 P.2d 88 (1972), accurately summarizes a trial court's function in evaluating motions for summary judgment. Those long recognized guiding principles are:

- (1) Pursuant to CR 56(c), a summary judgment is only available where, "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . "the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law."
- (2) The burden is on the movant for summary judgment to demonstrate that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against him.
- (3) And, where a motion is made for summary judgment, it is the duty of the trial court to consider all evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom in a light most favorable to the nonmovant.
- (4) The motion should be granted only if, from this evidence, reasonable men could reach but one conclusion.
- (5) The object and function of summary judgment procedure is to avoid a useless trial. A trial is not useless, but is absolutely necessary where there is a genuine issue as to any material fact.

Barber vs. Bankers Life & Casualty, supra, at 142-144.

Regardless of how many times the Washington State Patrol states

Judge McCauley committed obvious error, stating it over and over again
does not make it so. The materials submitted in support of and in
opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment are voluminous. Judge

McCauley carefully examined both parties' materials and concluded
material issues of fact remain in dispute, requiring resolution by a Grays

Harbor County jury. In fact, without the benefit of a verbatim report of
proceedings, this Court has absolutely no idea how Judge McCauley ruled,
what he ruled on, and how he came to the conclusion he did. As a result,
although a reviewing Court reviews these decisions *de novo*, it is
impossible to say Judge McCauley committed obvious error.

Cases in which obvious error has been found illustrate the nature of a claimed error which would allow discretionary review. Examples of cases granting discretionary review are: In Re the Marriage of Wolk, 65 Wn.App. 356, 828 P.2d 634 (1992) (trial court's failure to impose attorney fees and costs when the relevant statute directed "the court shall order."); Pacific Rock Environmental Enhancement Group v. Clark County, 92 Wn.App. 777, 964 P.2d 1211 (1998) (statutory definition of "land use decision" did not include a hearing examiner's prehearing discovery order); Shannon v. State, 110 Wn.App. 366, 40 P.3d 1200 (2002) (tort claim statute requiring verification by the claimant was unambiguous and

compliance mandatory); <u>DGHI Enterprises v. Pacific Cities, Inc.</u>, 137 Wn.2d 933, 977 P.2d 1231 (1999) (court rule requires the entry of findings of fact and conclusions of law before a successor judge may perform the duties of the predecessor judge); <u>Washington State Department of Labor and Industries v. Davison</u>, 126 Wn.App. 730, 109 P.3d 479 (2005) (trial court's erroneous application of law).

By this appeal, the State has once again failed to recognize the gravamen of Respondent's claim. The State Patrol intended to injure Respondent and the other Troopers when they were tased. The taser shoots out probes that contain barbs which penetrate the skin. These are aluminum darts tipped with stainless steel barbs. This is followed by pain inflicted by electric shock which incapacitates the recipient. The material submitted by the Appellant, entitled "Product Warnings—Law Enforcement", contains this paragraph, CP 60:

"Probe Removal. In most areas of the body, injuries or wounds caused by TASER probes will be minor. TASER probes have small barbs. There is a possible risk of probes causing injury to blood vessels. Follow your training and agency's guidance for probe removal."

In fact, the training manual written by Sgt. Tegard states that 99% of all volunteers to tasing were incapacitated. CP 88. The Appellant's denial of any initial intent to injure is in stark conflict with the facts.

The inevitable and certain injury is the barbs penetrating the body [in addition to the incapacitation and pain due to electric shock] which normally result in puncture wounds. But, both the manufacturer, Taser International, and the Appellant recognize that "secondary" injuries do result in fractures to bones, including vertebrae. The document submitted by Appellant, CP 61, makes this plain:

"Strain Injury Risks. It is possible that the injury types may include, but are not limited to, strain-type injuries such as hernias, ruptures, dislocations, tears, or other injuries to soft tissue, organs, muscles, tendons, ligaments, nerves, and joints. Fractures to bones, including vertebrae, may occur. . . ."
[Emphasis Added.]

That is exactly what happened to Michael Michelbrink. As a result of being tased, he suffered compression fractures at C5-6 and T5. His doctors have concluded and will testify that the tasing was the cause of the fractures; the Appellant does not dispute the injuries or the cause..

Respondent does not contend that the State Patrol intended that he suffer vertebrae fractures as a result of the tasing. The State Patrol did intend to injure him in order to show him the effect of being tased. It believed that the injury would be minor, but it knew there was a risk of far more serious injury. It accepted that risk on behalf of Michael Michelbrink. It believed that the benefit of the training outweighed the risk to the Troopers.

Every law student knows the well-established legal doctrine of the "eggshell skull". If one intends to injure, or negligently injures another, he is responsible for the damage which results. He cannot defend by saying, "I did not intend the injury to be so serious." One cannot assume

that the person has a normal thickness skull; similarly one cannot assume that every person tased will have a minor injury.

The position of the State Patrol was made very clear through the deposition testimony of Mark R. Tegard, the Appellant's employee responsible for designing and implementing the taser training at the Washington State Patrol Academy.

Sgt. Tegard did himself undergo an exposure to the taser. However he was required to sign a release prior to undergoing the exposure. CP 128, lines 1-2.

While in the beginning of his deposition he was vague about his knowledge of potential injuries from being tased, he did refer to "muscle contractions", and stated "that's where they kind of talked to strains, you get muscle strains, muscle contractions." He went on to talk about "signature marks, which is where the electricity entered the body." He preferred to refer to these marks as "signature marks" and not scarring. CP 128, lines 17-25.

In evaluating the training, and after Sgt. Tegard learned of at least one stress fracture caused by the exposure to the taser, he did additional investigation. CP 133, lines 10-12. What he did was to:

- A. "Contact TASER, see if they had anymore information on other people that had a serious fracture.
- Q. "Well, is that like a serious fracture? Is there anything that's a nonserious fracture?

CP 133, lines 22-23.

At some point in the program, the Appellant's staff made the decision to make tasing an option, and not a requirement. CP 129, lines 1-11.

Later in his deposition, Sgt. Tegard did state that the training manual that he put together contained a statement that the "potential injuries", in addition to "cuts, bruises and abrasions caused by falling", could also include "strain-related injuries from strong muscle contractions such as muscle or tendon tears, or stress fractures." CP 131, lines 13-25.

It is obvious, from the deposition of Sgt. Tegard, that the State Patrol decided that the risk of harm to its Troopers was outweighed by the potential benefit to the State Patrol. That is to say, the benefit outweighs the risk. CP 132, lines 9-21.

This specious "risk versus benefit" argument was long ago rejected by our State Supreme Court in <u>Birklid vs. Boeing Company</u>, 127 Wn.2d 853, 904 P.2d 278 (1995). In that case, Boeing proposed the following formulation for RCW 51.24.020:

"Evidence that an employer has deliberately engaged in conduct that results in occupational injuries or disease within its workforce is not evidence of a specific intent to injure members of that workforce for purposes of RCW 51.24.020 so long as that conduct was reasonably calculated to advance an essential business purpose.

"Conversely, when an employer deliberately engages in conduct that is not reasonably calculated to advance an essential business purpose, such conduct may constitute evidence of specific intent to injure for purposes of RCW 51.24.020 if the surrounding facts and

circumstances indicate that the employer's specific purpose was to bring about an employee's injury."

Birklid, at page 862.

The Supreme Court made short work of Boeing's proposal:

"We decline to adopt Boeing's formulation for RCW 51.24.020..."

Birklid, at page 862.

The Washington State Patrol argues in this Court that the probes that were stuck into Trooper Michelbrink's back during the exposure to the Taser did not result in an "injury". This ignores the evidence that other Troopers who were injured by being shot with the Taser were all granted Labor and Industry benefits. Obviously, an injury did occur. In fact, the definition of "injury" found at RCW 51.08.100, is wholly inconsistent with the position the Washington State Patrol now takes:

"'Injury' means a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result, and occurring from without, and such physical conditions as result therefrom."

Under this definition of "injury" found in Title 51 of the Industrial Insurance Definitions, the injury to Trooper Michelbrink fits exactly. The exposure to the darts was a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, and produced a prompt result, and it produced a physical condition that resulted therefrom, to wit: a fractured vertebra and bulging disk.

The Washington State Patrol continues to argue that the benefit to the employees and the State Patrol was so great that an injury to one percent was an acceptable loss. However, the "loss" to the Washington State Patrol is vastly different from the loss suffered by Trooper Michelbrink, who has been permanently injured.

The Washington State Patrol appears to be implying that the injury to Trooper Michelbrink was an anomaly and he should not be compensated. This argument ignores tort law. The following is a summary of what the law is:

"It is a well-established precept of tort law that a tort feasor takes his victim as he finds him, and must bear liability for the manner and degree in which his fault manifests itself on the individual physiology of the victim."

Buchalski vs. Universal Marine Corp., 393 F.Supp. 246 (W.D. Wash. 1975), at 248; 6 Wash.Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 30.18.01 (6th Ed.)

The Restatement of Law(Second) of Torts, 4th Edition, Section 461, repeats this general statement:

"The negligent actor is subject to liability for harm to another although a physical condition of the other which is neither known nor should be known to the actor makes the injury greater than that which the actor as a reasonable man should have foreseen as a probable result of his conduct."

The *Restatement* does confirm at Comment (b) that:

"The rule stated in this Section is an application of a broader rule which applies not only to negligence **but also to intentional conduct**. [Emphasis added.] The broad rule applies not only where a physical injury is unexpectedly increased by the unknown physical peculiarities of the other, but also where an injury to another's pecuniary interests is increased by the unexpected and unknown or unknowable value of the article damaged."

While the Washington State Patrol did not intend to fracture Trooper Michelbrink's back in two places, it did intend to inflict an "injury" upon him as part of a training exercise. This injury, or "happening" in the words of the definition of RCW 51.08.100, produced an immediate result occurring from without. The physical condition that resulted from the Taser shot was a fractured back.

The Washington State Patrol wants to accept no responsibility for having purposely injured Trooper Michelbrink. The Washington State Patrol argues that the benefit to it and its employees outweighed the risk. It argues in its material that the Department of Labor and Industries continued to pay Trooper Michelbrink's salary and all of his medical bills. It offers this as some justification.

However, the Supreme Court in <u>Birklid</u> didn't buy that specious argument either. It stated at Footnote 4 to the Opinion that:

"... the workers all received benefits under Title 51 RCW.... [Citation omitted.] This fact does not alter our analysis here. Also RCW 51.24.020 specifically contemplates a 'cause of action against the employer as if this title had not been enacted, for any damages in excess of compensation and benefits paid or payable under this title'."

Further support of Trooper Michelbrink's position is found in the description of the "injuries" suffered by the employees in the <u>Birklid</u> case. The injuries described by the employees included panic disorder, depressive disorder, headaches, nausea, sensory irritation, chemical sensitization, Multiple Chemical Sensitivity Syndrome, sleeplessness, blood in the urine, dermatitis and skin rashes, diarrhea, vomiting,

gastrointestinal distress, shortness of breath, memory loss, and Organic Brain Syndrome. The court determined that the alleged injuries were, in total, sufficient to reach the trier of fact. Trooper Michelbrink's injuries, in comparison, are of a more serious nature. A trier of fact should determine whether the Washington State Patrol intentionally caused them and, if so, to what extent Trooper Michelbrink was injured. The trial court was correct in reaching this conclusion and requiring the case to proceed to trial.

In his ruling, the Commissioner misstated the law. The Commissioner determined that because only one percent of recipients of a Taser discharge suffered a "continued injury", an injury is not "certain" to occur. Commissioner's Ruling at page 3. This ruling is apparently based upon the holding in Vallandigham vs. Clover Park School District, 154 Wn.2d 16, 109 P.3d 805 (2005). That ruling is inapposite to this case. In Vallandigham, a special ed student continued to injure staff over a fairly lengthy period of time. The argument made by the plaintiffs in that case was that the injuries to different staff employees were continuous over a lengthy period of time such that at some point it became certain that an injury would occur. The court rejected that argument, holding:

"In sum, substantial certainty that employee injury would continue is not enough, and here a jury could not conclude that continued injury was certain."

154 Wn.2d at page 34.

In the instant case, the Trooper does not argue that his injury was a "continued injury" as incorrectly characterized by the Commissioner. His injury actually occurred immediately upon being struck by the Taser darts.

There was no need for plaintiff to argue that his was a "continued injury". The fact that he also suffered a contraction injury as a by-product of the absolutely certain injury, solidified, rather than weakened, the certainty of injury to anyone who is shot with the Taser gun.

The Washington State Patrol moved for discretionary review, arguing that its Motion for Summary Judgment should have been granted as there was no genuine issue as to any material fact and that it was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The burden is on the Washington State Patrol to show that there are no issues of material fact. Here, obviously, whether the Washington State Patrol intended to injure Trooper Michelbrink is a material fact which can only be decided by a jury. The Washington State Patrol knew all the Troopers would be injured in one way or another. Some were more seriously injured than others. Unfortunately, Trooper Michelbrink suffered a fractured back for which the Washington State Patrol is liable in damages.

In its brief—for the first time—the State Patrol raises the issue of whether the pleadings are adequate to support the claim of outrage. Not in its first Motion for Summary Judgment, nor in its second Motion for Summary Judgment was this issue ever raised. It was not raised in the Motion for Discretionary Review. Any reference to the adequacy of the pleadings should be stricken. Obviously, the Appellant believed this to be a throw-away issue. However, Respondent will address the issue.

The State of Washington is a notice pleading state. In the leading case of Sherwood vs. Moxee School District, 58 Wn.2d 351, 363 P.2d 138, (1961), the court stated:

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